Table Rock Treaty of 1853

By Jeff LaLande

The Council of Table Rock brought a temporary peace between Indigenous residents of the Rogue
River Valley and the American settlers that had swarmed into the region after 1850. The site of the
Council’'s negotiations was on the north side of the Rogue River, near the southwestern base of the
main portion of Lower Table Rock, within a small valley formed by the horseshoe-shaped Table
Rock.

The 1853 Council of Table Rock negotiated two treaties. First was the peace treaty, on September
8 (which was never ratified), between representatives of Oregon Territory and the Takelma, Shasta,
Dakubetede, and other Indigenous groups of the Rogue Valley, bringing a temporary respite to the
conflict in southwestern Oregon between Native people and the ever-growing number of white
settlers and miners. A second treaty, dated September 10, was a land-cession treaty (subsequently
ratified by the federal government) that provided for a reservation and various services to the Native
people in return for relinquishment of their title to much of southwestern Oregon. The treaty-making
required translation back-and-forth from Takelman into Chinook Wawa (the Pacific Northwest’s
trade jargon).

On September 10, 1853, Takelma leader Apserkahar (known as Chief Joe) and former Oregon
Territorial Governor Joseph Lane faced each other. Lane's fellow negotiators included recently
federally appointed Oregon Superintendent of Indian Affairs Joel Palmer; U.S. Army Captain A. J.
Smith; leader of the local settler militia Colonel John Ross; Lafayette Grover (later governor of the
state); as well as interpreters Robert Metcalf and James Nesmith (later a U.S. senator) as
translators of Chinook Wawa. The group entered the Takelma camp unarmed, and the parlaying
lasted for much of the day. Nesmith later wrote that the party came close to being ‘killed to a man"
when news of the latest murder of an innocent Native angered the Takelma leaders.

The ratified Treaty of Table Rock established a reservation on the north side of the Rogue River,
including important salmon-fishing sites on the river; the two Table Rocks; the extensive
oak-and-pine-filled Sam's Valley (named for Apserkarhar’s brother, Chief Sam); and the
mountainous, heavily forested Sardine Creek and Evans Creek watersheds. The location of an
eventual permanent reservation was not determined. The treaty also promised various goods and
services that would enable the Indians to farm and ranch and agreed that the U.S. Army’s Fort Lane
(established in late 1853 on the south side of the Rogue) would protect the reservation's inhabitants
from land-hungry whites.

In October 1855, the Lupton Massacre, perpetrated by a group of white settlers and miners from
Jacksonville on Takelmas camped near Upper Table Rock, ended the peace and precipitated the
final Rogue River War. The Takelma (unlike the other Native groups gathered groups who fled
downstream into the lower Rogue River’'s rugged canyon) remained peacefully on the reservation.
They were removed in 1856 from their Rogue Valley home to the Grand Ronde encampment, west
of Salem, which became a formal reservation in 1857. Fort Lane was soon abandoned, and the
former Table Rock Reservation was opened to settlement.
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